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2021 Stockholder Letter

Dear Stockholders,

Fiscal year 2021 was a record breaking year for Deckers Brands, as we:

 Grew revenue 19.4% to $2.5 billion; and,
 Increased earnings per share 39.9% to $13.47.

We were able to achieve these results because of the long term strategies in place prior to the COVID
19 pandemic, which include:

 Building global awareness to the HOKA ONE ONE brand;
 Diversifying the UGG brand’s product offering;
 Prioritizing ecommerce to acquire and retain consumers online; and,
 Executing distribution strategies unique to each of our brands that optimize brand health and

sustainable growth.

With the continued success of these strategies, we are making investments to build on the exceptionally
strong foundation of our organization, which include:

 Infrastructure capacity: adding another U.S. distribution facility, scaling international facilities,
and using enhanced planning to drive efficiencies;

 Digital capabilities: to optimize insights and targeting, and increase personalization;
 Marketing: to build brands and product extensions, such as UGG’s Ready to Wear apparel

collection;
 China: to seed HOKA ONE ONE and reignite our UGG brand;
 Talent: we are only as good as our people enable us to be, so we are working to:o Improve diversity: 49% of new hires since June 2020 are from BIPOC (Black, Indigenous

and People of Color) communities; and,o Recruit talent to enable success in our emerging opportunities.
 Our planet, our organization’s philosophy of Doing Great and Doing Good, and our customers’

desires for more responsible products, with programs that:o Support regenerative farming, reduce waste, and protect forests; and,o Encourage recycling of our products; for example our Teva Forever program enables
customers to return old sandals to be reborn as playgrounds and running tracks.

Through these investments, we are confident that we can achieve the following:

 Build HOKA ONE ONE to a one billion plus global performance brand that represents a
significant portion of total revenue;

 Drive our direct to consumer business towards 50% of our global revenues;
 Scale international markets across brands; and
 Seed opportunities beyond footwear.



We understand that continuing to perform as we have and achieving these responsible and ambitious
goals, we need to protect our financial sustainability, and we are doing that. We have maintained top
tier, mid to high teens operating margins and repurchased $450 million of our common stock over the
past three years ending March 31, 2021, while growing overall revenue at a healthy rate. And after
hitting a temporary pause for the pandemic, our Board has approved in April 2021 an additional
authorization of $750 million to repurchase our common stock.

I hope you are as proud of our employees as I am in delivering these results in difficult times. I
encourage you to learn more about our collective achievements in the pages that follow, buy our
products, provide us feedback at any time, and continue to support us—whether through your
investments, your work, your purchases or your insights.

Sincerely,

Dave Powers
Chief Executive Officer and President

Forward Looking Statements

This document contains "forward looking statements" within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the U.S.
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which statements are subject to considerable risks and
uncertainties. Forward looking statements include all statements other than statements of historical fact
contained in this document, including statements regarding the build out of HOKA ONE ONE to a one billion plus
global performance brand that represents a significant portion of total revenue; the driving of our direct to
consumer business towards 50% of our global revenues; the scaling of international markets across brands; and
the seeding of opportunities beyond footwear. Forward looking statements represent our management’s current
expectations and predictions about trends affecting our business and industry and are based on information
available as of the time such statements are made. Although we do not make forward looking statements unless
we believe we have a reasonable basis for doing so, we cannot guarantee their accuracy or completeness.
Forward looking statements involve numerous known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may
cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results,
performance or achievements predicted, assumed or implied by the forward looking statements. Some of the risks
and uncertainties that may cause our actual results to materially differ from those expressed or implied by these
forward looking statements are described in the section entitled “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10 K
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, as well as in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10 Q and other filings with
the Securities and Exchange Commission. Except as required by applicable law or the listing rules of the New York
Stock Exchange, we expressly disclaim any intent or obligation to update any forward looking statements.

































































PART II

Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of 
Equity Securities

Our common stock has traded under the symbol DECK on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) since May 
2014 and was previously traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market. 

As of May 13, 2021, we had 39 stockholders of record based on the records of our transfer agent, which does 
not include beneficial owners of our common stock whose shares are held in the names of various securities 
brokers, dealers and registered clearing agencies.

We did not sell any equity securities during the year ended March 31, 2021 that were not registered under the 
Securities Act.

Stock Performance Graph

Below is a graph comparing the percentage change in the cumulative total return on our common stock against 
the cumulative total return of the S&P 500 Apparel, Accessories & Luxury Goods Index and the NYSE Composite 
Index for the five fiscal-year periods commencing April 1, 2016 and ended March 31, 2021. Total return assumes 
reinvestment of dividends, though we have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock since our 
inception. The data represented in the graph below assumes one hundred dollars invested in our common stock, 
the S&P 500 Apparel, Accessories & Luxury Goods Index and the NYSE Composite Index on April 1, 2016.
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April 1, Years Ended March 31,
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Deckers Outdoor Corporation $ 100.0 $ 99.7 $ 150.3 $ 245.4 $ 223.7 $ 551.5 
S&P 500 Apparel, Accessories & 
Luxury Goods Index 100.0 79.5 101.9 98.7 49.1 100.2 
The NYSE Composite Index 100.0 115.6 128.6 134.8 112.4 174.2 

The stock performance graph and related information shall not be deemed incorporated by reference by any 
general statement incorporating by reference into this Annual Report into any filing under the Securities Act, or 
under the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate this information by reference and shall 
not otherwise be deemed filed under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act. 

Dividend Policy

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock since our inception. We currently do 
not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends. Our current revolving credit agreements allow us to declare 
and pay cash dividends, as long as we do not exceed certain leverage ratios and no event of default has occurred.

Stock Repurchase Programs

In January 2019, our Board of Directors approved an additional authorization to its stock repurchase program 
to repurchase $261,000 of our common stock in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, subject to 
market conditions, applicable legal requirements, and other factors (our stock repurchase program). As of March 31, 
2021, the aggregate remaining approved amount under our stock repurchase program was $60,660. 

Below is a summary of stock repurchase activity under our stock repurchase program during the fourth fiscal 
quarter ended March 31, 2021:

Total number of 
shares 

repurchased*
Average price 
paid per share

Dollar value of 
shares 

repurchased

Dollar value of 
shares 

remaining for 
repurchase

January 1 - January 31, 2021 — $ — $ — $ 159,807 
February 1 - February 28, 2021 192,361 323.33 62,196 97,611 
March 1 - March 31, 2021 114,719 322.10 36,951 60,660 

*Any share repurchases are made as part of publicly announced programs in open-market transactions.

Our Board of Directors approved an additional authorization of $750,000 during April 2021 to repurchase our 
common stock under the same conditions as the prior stock repurchase program. Subsequent to March 31, 2021 
through May 13, 2021, we repurchased 70,881 shares for $23,466 at an average price of $331.06 per share, and 
had $787,194 remaining authorized under the stock repurchase program. 

Our stock repurchase program does not obligate us to acquire any amount of common stock and may be 
suspended at any time at our discretion. 

Refer to Part II, Item 7, “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations,” under the heading “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and Note 10, “Stockholders' Equity,” of our 
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes thereto (referred to herein as the consolidated financial 
statements) in Part IV within this Annual Report for further information on repurchases of our common stock.

31













Further, we report comparable DTC sales on a constant currency basis for DTC operations that were open 
throughout the current and prior reporting periods, and we may adjust prior reporting periods to conform to current 
year accounting policies. 

These non-GAAP financial measures are not intended to represent and should not be considered to be more 
meaningful measures than, or alternatives to, measures of operating performance as determined in accordance with 
US GAAP. Constant currency measures should not be considered in isolation as an alternative to US dollar 
measures that reflect current period foreign currency exchange rates or to other financial measures presented in 
accordance with US GAAP. We believe evaluating certain financial and operating measures on a constant currency 
basis is important as it excludes the impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations that are not indicative of 
our core results of operations and are largely outside of our control. 

Seasonality

Our business is seasonal, with the highest percentage of UGG and Koolaburra brand net sales occurring in the 
quarters ending September 30th and December 31st and the highest percentage of Teva and Sanuk brand net 
sales occurring in the quarters ending March 31st and June 30th. Net sales for the HOKA brand occur more evenly 
throughout the year reflecting the brand's year-round performance product offerings. Due to the magnitude of the 
UGG brand relative to our other brands, our aggregate net sales in the quarters ending September 30th and 
December 31st still significantly exceed our aggregate net sales in the quarters ending March 31st and June 
30th. As we continue to take steps to diversify and expand our product offerings by creating more year-round styles, 
and as net sales of the HOKA brand continue to increase as a percentage of our aggregate net sales, we expect the 
impact from seasonality to continue to decrease over time. However, it is unclear whether seasonal impacts will be 
minimized or exaggerated in future periods as a result of the disruptions and uncertainties caused by the pandemic. 
Refer to Note 14, “Quarterly Summary of Information (Unaudited),” of our consolidated financial statements in Part 
IV within this Annual Report for further information on our results of operations by quarterly period.

Result of Operations

Year Ended March 31, 2021 Compared to Year Ended March 31, 2020. The following table summarizes our 
results of operations:

Net sales $ 2,545,641  100.0 % $ 2,132,689  100.0 % $ 412,952  19.4 %
Cost of sales 1,171,551  46.0 1,029,016  48.2 (142,535)  (13.9) 

Gross profit 1,374,090  54.0 1,103,673  51.8 270,417  24.5 
Selling, general, and administrative 
expenses 869,885  34.2 765,538  35.9 (104,347)  (13.6) 

Income from operations 504,205  19.8 338,135  15.9 166,070  49.1 
Other expense (income), net 2,691  0.1 (2,731)  (0.1) (5,422)  (198.5) 

Income before income taxes 501,514  19.7 340,866  16.0 160,648  47.1 
Income tax expense 118,939  4.7 64,724  3.1 (54,215)  (83.8) 

Net income 382,575  15.0 276,142  12.9 106,433  38.5 
Total other comprehensive income 
(loss), net of tax 8,816  0.3 (2,905)  (0.1) 11,721  403.5 

Comprehensive income $ 391,391  15.3 % $ 273,237  12.8 % $ 118,154  43.2 %
Net income per share

Basic $ 13.64 $ 9.73 $ 3.91 
Diluted $ 13.47 $ 9.62 $ 3.85 

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 Change

Amount % Amount % Amount %
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Net Sales. The following table summarizes our net sales by location, and by brand and channel:

Net sales by location
US $ 1,761,477 $ 1,401,692 $ 359,785  25.7 %
International 784,164 730,997 53,167  7.3 

Total $ 2,545,641 $ 2,132,689 $ 412,952  19.4 %

Net sales by brand and channel
UGG brand
Wholesale $ 871,799 $ 892,990 $ (21,191)  (2.4) %
Direct-to-Consumer 845,283 627,817 217,466  34.6 

Total 1,717,082 1,520,807 196,275  12.9 
HOKA brand
Wholesale 405,243 277,097 128,146  46.2 
Direct-to-Consumer 165,997 75,527 90,470  119.8 

Total 571,240 352,624 218,616  62.0 
Teva brand
Wholesale 105,928 119,108 (13,180)  (11.1) 
Direct-to-Consumer 32,860 18,897 13,963  73.9 

Total 138,788 138,005 783  0.6 
Sanuk brand
Wholesale 26,566 39,463 (12,897)  (32.7) 
Direct-to-Consumer 15,274 11,696 3,578  30.6 

Total 41,840 51,159 (9,319)  (18.2) 
Other brands
Wholesale 69,375 67,175 2,200  3.3 
Direct-to-Consumer 7,316 2,919 4,397  150.6 

Total 76,691 70,094 6,597  9.4 
Total $ 2,545,641 $ 2,132,689 $ 412,952  19.4 %

Total Wholesale $ 1,478,911 $ 1,395,833 $ 83,078  6.0 %
Total Direct-to-Consumer 1,066,730 736,856 329,874  44.8 

Total $ 2,545,641 $ 2,132,689 $ 412,952  19.4 %

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 Change

Amount Amount Amount %

Total net sales increased primarily due to higher DTC sales as well as higher HOKA brand wholesale sales, 
partially offset by lower UGG brand, Teva brand, and Sanuk brand wholesale sales. Further, we experienced an 
increase of 13.9% in total volume of pairs sold to 41,900 from 36,800 compared to the prior period. On a constant 
currency basis, net sales increased by 18.4%, compared to the prior period. Drivers of significant changes in net 
sales, compared to the prior period, were as follows: 

• DTC net sales increased due to higher e-commerce net sales across all brands, partially offset by
lower retail sales attributed to lower tourism traffic and store closures related to the pandemic. Due
to the meaningful disruption of our retail store base for closures, we are not reporting a comparable
DTC net sales metric for the year ended March 31, 2021.

• Wholesale net sales of the HOKA brand increased primarily due to global expansion of market
share, including reaching new customers, driven by increased brand awareness combined with key
franchise updates.
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Income from Operations. Income from operations by reportable operating segment was as follows:

Income (loss) from operations
UGG brand wholesale $ 292,718 $ 303,908 $ (11,190)  (3.7) %
HOKA brand wholesale 111,208 61,860 49,348  79.8 
Teva brand wholesale 27,120 30,736 (3,616)  (11.8) 
Sanuk brand wholesale (162) 3,212 (3,374)  (105.0) 
Other brands wholesale 21,573 16,087 5,486  34.1 
Direct-to-Consumer 349,465 182,548 166,917  91.4 
Unallocated overhead costs (297,717) (260,216) (37,501)  (14.4) 
Total $ 504,205 $ 338,135 $ 166,070  49.1 %

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 Change

Amount Amount Amount %

The increase in total income from operations, compared to the prior period, was primarily due to higher net 
sales at higher gross margins, primarily driven by DTC and HOKA brand wholesale, partially offset by higher SG&A 
expenses. Drivers of significant net changes in total income from operations, compared to the prior period, were as 
follows:

• The increase in income from operations of DTC was due to higher net sales at higher gross margins,
as well as lower Company-owned retail store operating costs, partially offset by higher variable
marketing and selling expenses, as well as higher e-commerce expenses.

• The increase in income from operations of HOKA brand wholesale was primarily due to higher net
sales, partially offset by higher variable marketing expenses.

• The decrease in income from operations of UGG brand wholesale was due to lower net sales at
lower gross margins as well as higher marketing expenses, partially offset by lower variable selling
expenses.

• The increase in income from operations of Other brands wholesale was due to higher net sales at
higher gross margins, partially offset by higher variable marketing expenses.

• The decrease in income from operations of Teva brand wholesale was due to lower net sales at
lower gross margins, partially offset by lower variable selling expenses.

• The increase in loss from operations of Sanuk brand wholesale was primarily due the impairment of
a definite-lived international trademark, as well as lower net sales at lower gross margins, partially
offset by lower variable selling and marketing expenses.

• The increase in unallocated overhead costs was primarily due to higher performance-based
compensation, as well as warehousing expenses, including for payroll and outside services, in
addition to higher information technology expenses, and higher depreciation expenses, partially
offset by lower foreign currency-related losses driven by favorable changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, insurance recovery proceeds, and lower travel related expenses.

Other Expense (Income), Net. The increase in total other expense, net, compared to the prior period, was 
primarily due to a decrease in interest income driven by lower average interest rates, partially offset by higher 
average invested cash balances.
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Income Tax Expense. Income tax expense and our effective income tax rate were as follows:

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020

Income tax expense $ 118,939 $ 64,724 
Effective income tax rate  23.7 %  19.0 %

The increase in our effective income tax rate, compared to the prior period, was primarily due to changes in the 
geographic mix of worldwide income before income taxes for the year ended March 31, 2021 in jurisdictions with 
higher effective tax rates, higher non-deductible executive compensation, as well as less favorable settlement of tax 
audits, partially offset by higher employee share based compensation excess tax benefits. 

Foreign income before income taxes was $133,186 and $134,755 and worldwide income before income taxes 
was $501,514 and $340,866 during the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The decrease in 
foreign income before income taxes as a percentage of worldwide income before income taxes, compared to the 
prior period, was primarily due to higher domestic sales and higher foreign operating expenses as a percentage of 
worldwide sales. 

For the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, we did not generate significant pre-tax earnings from any 
countries which do not impose a corporate income tax. A small portion of our unremitted accumulated earnings of 
non-US subsidiaries, for which no US federal or state income tax have been provided, are currently expected to be 
reinvested outside of the US indefinitely. Such earnings would become taxable upon the sale or liquidation of these 
subsidiaries. Refer to the section titled “Liquidity” below for further information. 

We expect our foreign income or loss before income taxes, as well as our effective income tax rate, will 
continue to fluctuate from period to period based on several factors, including the impact of our global product 
sourcing organization, our actual results of operations from sales generated in domestic and foreign markets, and 
changes in domestic and foreign tax laws (or in the application or interpretation of those laws). Foreign income 
before income taxes will continue to grow in the long-term, in both absolute terms and as a percentage of worldwide 
income before income taxes, as we focus on the global composition of our business, localized strategies for 
international markets, and investments in international regions. In addition, we believe our effective income tax rate 
will be impacted by our actual foreign income or loss before income taxes relative to our actual worldwide income or 
loss before income taxes. For further information on the impacts of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (Tax Reform Act), 
refer to Note 5, “Income Taxes,” of our consolidated financial statements in Part IV within this Annual Report. 

Net Income. The increase in net income, compared to the prior period, was due to higher net sales at higher 
gross margins, partially offset by higher SG&A expenses. Net income per share increased, compared to the prior 
period, due to higher net income, combined with lower weighted-average common shares outstanding, driven by 
stock repurchases in prior periods.

Total Other Comprehensive Income, Net of Tax. The increase in total other comprehensive income, net of tax, 
compared to the prior period, was due to higher foreign currency translation gains relating to changes to our net 
asset position for favorable Asian and European foreign currency exchange rates.

Liquidity

We finance our working capital and operating requirements using a combination of our cash and cash 
equivalents balances, cash provided from ongoing operating activities and, to a lesser extent, available borrowings 
under our revolving credit facilities. Our working capital requirements begin when we purchase raw materials and 
inventories and continue until we ultimately collect the resulting trade accounts receivable. Given the historical 
seasonality of our business, our working capital requirements fluctuate significantly throughout the fiscal year, and 
we are required to utilize available cash to build inventory levels during certain quarters in our fiscal year to support 
higher selling seasons. 

While we are subject to uncertainty surrounding the pandemic, we believe our cash and cash equivalents 
balances, cash provided from ongoing operating activities, and available borrowings under our revolving credit 
facilities, will provide sufficient liquidity to enable us to meet our working capital requirements and timely service our 
debt obligations for at least the next 12 months. 
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China Credit Facility. Our revolving credit facility in China (China Credit Facility) is an uncommitted revolving 
line of credit of up to CNY 300,000, or $45,736. 

As of March 31, 2021, we had no outstanding balance, outstanding bank guarantees of $30, and available 
borrowings of $45,706 under our China Credit Facility. 

Japan Credit Facility. Our revolving credit facility in Japan (Japan Credit Facility) is an uncommitted revolving 
line of credit of up to JPY 3,000,000, or $27,099. We renewed the Japan Credit Facility through January 31, 2022 
substantially under the terms of the original credit agreement.

As of March 31, 2021, we had no outstanding balance and had available borrowings of $27,099 under our 
Japan Credit Facility. 

Mortgage. As of March 31, 2021, there is no outstanding balance under the mortgage, previously secured by 
the property on which our corporate headquarters is located. During the year ended March 31, 2021, we repaid in 
full the outstanding principal balance, accrued interest, as well as prepayment penalties under the mortgage totaling 
$31,578. 

Debt Covenants. As of March 31, 2021, we were in compliance with all financial covenants under our 
revolving credit facilities.

Refer to Note 6, “Revolving Credit Facilities and Mortgage Payable,” of our consolidated financial statements in 
Part IV within this Annual Report for further information on our capital resources. 

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented:

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 596,217 $ 286,334 $ 309,883  108.2 %
Net cash used in investing activities (32,169) (31,964) (205)  (0.6)
Net cash used in financing activities (129,581) (192,114) 62,533  32.5 

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 Change

Amount Amount Amount %

Operating Activities. Our primary source of liquidity is net cash provided by operating activities, which is 
primarily driven by our net income, other cash receipts and expenditure adjustments, and changes in working 
capital. 

The increase in net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended March 31, 2021, compared to 
the prior period, was primarily due to a net positive change in operating assets and liabilities of $185,994 and net 
income after non-cash adjustments of $123,889. The changes in operating assets and liabilities were primarily due 
to net positive changes in inventories, net, accrued expenses, trade accounts payable, income taxes payable, and 
income tax receivable, partially offset by net negative changes in prepaid expenses and other current assets, and 
trade accounts receivable, net. The positive change in inventories, net, made up a majority of the net positive 
change in operating assets and liabilities, which was driven by higher net sales and lower inventory on-hand due to 
more disciplined purchasing that focused on key products in response to the pandemic, as well as the positive 
change in accrued expenses, primarily driven by higher payroll related accruals.

Investing Activities. The net cash used in investing activities during the year ended March 31, 2021, was 
consistent with the prior period, and was primarily comprised of capital expenditures for improvements to our 
warehouse and DC, the build-out or refreshes made to our retail store locations, as well as information technology.

Financing Activities. The decrease in net cash used in financing activities during the year ended March 31, 
2021, compared to the prior period, was primarily due to lower stock repurchases occurring in the current period, 
partially offset by repayment of the mortgage in full on our corporate headquarters.

43



Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Contractual Obligations 

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of March 31, 2021 and the effects of such 
obligations in future periods:

Payments Due by Period

Total
Less than

1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years
More than

5 Years

Operating lease obligations (1) $ 245,418 $ 49,528 $ 82,233 $ 56,707 $ 56,950 
Purchase obligations for product (2) 566,820 566,820 — — — 
Purchase obligations for commodities (3) 150,594 114,342 36,252 — — 
Other purchase obligations (4) 102,317 30,630 45,300 26,387 — 
Net unrecognized tax benefits (5) 6,359 1,038 5,321 — — 

Total $ 1,071,508 $ 762,358 $ 169,106 $ 83,094 $ 56,950 

(1) Our operating lease commitments consist primarily of building leases for our retail locations, our
warehouse and DC, and regional offices, and include the undiscounted cash lease payments owed
under the terms of our operating lease agreements. In addition to the above operating lease
commitments outstanding, there is $20,284 of legally binding minimum lease payments due pursuant
to a lease signed but not yet commenced, nor recorded in our consolidated financial statements, as of
March 31, 2021 for a new US distribution center. Refer to Note 7, “Leases and Other Commitments,”
of our consolidated financial statements in Part IV within this Annual Report for further information on
our operating lease assets and liabilities.

(2) Our purchase obligations for product consist mostly of open purchase orders issued in the ordinary
course of business. Outstanding purchase orders are primarily issued to our third-party manufacturers
and are expected to be paid within one year. We can cancel a significant portion of the purchase
obligations under certain circumstances; however, the occurrence of such circumstances is generally
limited. As a result, the amount does not necessarily reflect the dollar amount of our binding
commitments or minimum purchase obligations, and instead reflects an estimate of our future
payment obligations based on information currently available. Due to increased demand for certain
products combined with the impacts of the pandemic that may result in supply chain disruptions, we
are currently expecting that our inventory purchases with our third-party manufacturers will be
significantly higher for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2022 compared to prior fiscal years.

(3) Our purchase obligations for commodities include sheepskin and leather, and represent remaining
commitments under existing supply agreements, which are subject to minimum volume commitments.
We expect that purchases made by us under these agreements in the ordinary course of business will
eventually exceed the minimum commitment levels.

During the year ended March 31, 2021, we experienced a shift in product mix that used less of a
certain sheepskin grade. As a result, we negotiated a deferral of additional deposit payments, which
represent remaining minimum commitments under certain expired sheepskin supply agreements. As
of March 31, 2021, the remaining minimum purchase commitment under these expired agreements
was approximately $28,000. Subsequent to March 31, 2021 through May 13, 2021, this deposit was
paid.

(4) Our other purchase obligations consist of non-cancellable minimum commitments for logistics
arrangements, an IT agreement for a new inventory planning system, requirements to pay
promotional expenses, and other commitments under service contracts, which are due during fiscal
years 2022 through 2026. Amounts excluded from other purchase obligations above include any
capital expenditures that will be purchased before the end of the fiscal year ending March 31, 2022,
which we estimate will range from approximately $65,000 to $70,000. We anticipate these
expenditures will primarily relate to the build-out of our new US DC, IT infrastructure and system
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Wholesale and international distributor revenue are each recognized either when products are shipped or 
when delivered, depending on the applicable contract terms. Retail store and e-commerce revenue are recognized 
at the point of sale and upon shipment, respectively. Shipping and handling costs paid to third-party shipping 
companies are recorded as cost of sales in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Shipping and 
handling costs are a fulfillment service, and, for certain wholesale and all e-commerce transactions, revenue is 
recognized when the customer is deemed to obtain control upon the date of shipment. 

Refer to Note 2, “Revenue Recognition,” of our consolidated financial statements in Part IV within this Annual 
Report for further information regarding the components of variable consideration, including allowances for sales 
discounts, chargebacks, and our sales return liability.

Accounts Receivable Allowances. The following table summarizes critical accounting estimates for accounts 
receivable allowances and reserves:

Gross trade accounts receivable $ 242,234  100.0 % $ 206,742  100.0 %
Allowance for doubtful accounts (9,730)  (4.0) (6,989)  (3.4) 
Allowance for sales discounts (3,016)  (1.2) (1,030)  (0.5) 
Allowance for chargebacks (13,770)  (5.8) (13,127)  (6.3) 

Trade accounts receivable, net $ 215,718  89.1 % $ 185,596  89.8 %

As of March 31,
2021 2020

Amount

% of Gross
Trade Accounts

Receivable Amount

% of Gross
Trade Accounts

Receivable

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We provide an allowance against trade accounts receivable for estimated 
losses that may result from customers’ inability to pay. We determine the amount of the allowance by analyzing 
known uncollectible accounts, aged trade accounts receivable, economic conditions and forecasts, historical 
experience, and the customers’ creditworthiness. Trade accounts receivable that are subsequently determined to be 
uncollectible are charged or written off against this allowance. The allowance includes specific allowances for trade 
accounts, of which all or a portion are identified as potentially uncollectible based on known or anticipated losses. 
Our use of different estimates and assumptions could produce different financial results. For example, a 1.0% 
change in the rate used to estimate the reserve for accounts which we consider having credit risk and are not 
specifically identified as uncollectible would change the allowance for doubtful accounts as of March 31, 2021 by 
approximately $1,800.

Allowance for Sales Discounts. We provide a trade accounts receivable allowance for sales discounts for our 
wholesale channel sales, which reflects a discount that our customers may take, generally based on meeting certain 
order, shipment or prompt payment terms. We use the amount of the discounts that are available to be taken 
against the period end trade accounts receivable to estimate and record a corresponding reserve for sales 
discounts. 

Allowance for Chargebacks. We provide a trade accounts receivable allowance for chargebacks and 
markdowns from wholesale customers. When customers pay their invoices, they may take deductions against their 
invoices that can include chargebacks for price differences, markdowns, short shipments, and other reasons. 
Therefore, we record an allowance for known or unknown circumstances based on historical trends related to the 
timing and amount of chargebacks taken against wholesale channel customer invoices.

Sales Return Liability. The following tables summarize estimates for our sales return liability as a percentage 
of the most recent quarterly net sales by channel:

Three Months Ended March 31,
2021 2020

Amount % of Net Sales Amount % of Net Sales

Net Sales
Wholesale $ 326,106  58.1 % $ 230,677  61.5 %
Direct-to-Consumer 235,082  41.9 144,233  38.5 
Total $ 561,188  100.0 % $ 374,910  100.0 %
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As of March 31,
2021 2020

Amount % of Net Sales Amount % of Net Sales

Sales Return Liability
Wholesale $ (23,987)  (7.4) % $ (21,846)  (9.5) %
Direct-to-Consumer (13,730)  (5.8) (3,821)  (2.6) 
Total $ (37,717)  (6.7) % $ (25,667)  (6.8) %

Reserves are recorded for anticipated future returns of goods shipped prior to the end of the reporting period. 
In general, we accept returns for damaged or defective products for up to one year. We also have a policy whereby 
returns are generally accepted from customers between 30 to 90 days from the point of sale for cash or credit. 
Amounts of these reserves are based on known and actual returns, historical returns, and any recent events that 
could result in a change from historical return rates. Sales returns are an asset for the right to recover the inventory 
and a refund liability for the stand-ready right of return. Changes to the refund liability are recorded against gross 
sales and changes to the asset for the right to recover the inventory are recorded against cost of sales. For our 
wholesale channel, we base our estimate of sales returns on any approved customer requests for returns, historical 
returns experience, and any recent events that could result in a change from historical returns rates, among other 
factors. For our DTC channel and reportable operating segment, we estimate sales returns using a lag compared to 
the same prior period and consider historical returns experience and any recent events that could result in a change 
from historical returns, among other factors. Our use of different estimates and assumptions could produce different 
financial results. For example, a 1.0% change in the rate used to estimate the percentage of sales expected to 
ultimately be returned would change the sales return liability as of March 31, 2021 by approximately $5,000.

Inventory Reserves. The following tables summarize estimates for our inventory reserves:
As of March 31,

2021 2020

Amount
% of Gross 
Inventory Amount

% of Gross 
Inventory

Gross Inventories $ 297,874  100.0 % $ 323,847  100.0 %
Write-down of inventories (19,632)  (6.6) (12,227)  (3.8) 

Inventories, net $ 278,242  93.4 % $ 311,620  96.2 %

We review inventory on a regular basis for excess, obsolete, and impaired inventory to evaluate write-downs to 
the lower of cost or net realizable value. Our use of different estimates and assumptions could produce different 
financial results. For example, a 10.0% change in the estimated selling prices of our potentially obsolete inventory 
would change the inventory write-down reserve as of March 31, 2021 by approximately $1,600.

Operating Lease Assets and Lease Liabilities. Key accounting policy elections for the new lease standard 
applied to our consolidated financial statements are as follows:

• We recognize operating lease assets and lease liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets on the
lease commencement date, based on the present value of the outstanding lease payments over the
reasonably certain lease term. The lease term includes the non-cancelable period at the lease
commencement date, plus any additional periods covered by our options to extend (or not to
terminate) the lease that are reasonably certain to be exercised, or an option to extend (or not to
terminate) a lease that is controlled by the lessor.

• We discount unpaid lease payments using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if the rate cannot
be readily determined, its incremental borrowing rate (IBR). Generally, we cannot determine the
interest rate implicit in the lease because we do not have access to the lessor's estimated residual
value or the amount of the lessor's deferred initial direct costs. Therefore, we generally derive a
discount rate at the lease commencement date by utilizing our IBR, which is based on what we
would have to pay on a collateralized basis to borrow an amount equal to our lease payments
under similar terms. Because we do not currently borrow on a collateralized basis under our
revolving credit facilities, we use the interest rate we pay on our non-collateralized borrowings
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DECKERS OUTDOOR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(dollar and share data amounts in thousands, except par value)

As of March 31,
2021 2020

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,089,361 $ 649,436 

Trade accounts receivable, net of allowances ($26,516 and $21,146 as 
of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020, respectively) 215,718 185,596 

Inventories, net of reserves ($19,632 and $12,227 as of March 31, 2021 
and March 31, 2020, respectively) 278,242 311,620 
Prepaid expenses 16,924 17,760 
Other current assets 44,244 21,548 
Income tax receivable 6,310 8,151 

Total current assets 1,650,799 1,194,111 
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation ($266,905 and 
$242,138 as of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020, respectively) 206,210 209,037 
Operating lease assets 186,991 243,522 
Goodwill 13,990 13,990 
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization ($77,473 and 
$74,421 as of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020, respectively) 41,945 48,016 
Deferred tax assets, net 37,194 28,233 
Other assets 30,576 28,209 

Total assets $ 2,167,705 $ 1,765,118 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Short-term borrowings $ — $ 638 
Trade accounts payable 231,632 147,892 
Accrued payroll 79,152 42,309 
Operating lease liabilities 46,768 49,091 
Other accrued expenses 68,995 46,281 
Income taxes payable 36,920 11,104 
Value added tax payable 4,901 3,631 

Total current liabilities 468,368 300,946 
Mortgage payable — 30,263 
Long-term operating lease liabilities 176,274 215,724 
Income tax liability 60,094 63,547 
Other long-term liabilities 18,744 14,518 

Total long-term liabilities 255,112 324,052 
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity

Common stock ($0.01 par value; 125,000 shares authorized; shares 
issued and outstanding of 27,910 and 27,999 as of March 31, 2021 and 
March 31, 2020, respectively) 279 280 
Additional paid-in capital 203,310 191,451 
Retained earnings 1,257,379 973,948 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (16,743) (25,559) 

Total stockholders' equity 1,444,225 1,140,120 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 2,167,705 $ 1,765,118 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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DECKERS OUTDOOR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(dollar and share data amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 2019

Net sales $ 2,545,641 $ 2,132,689 $ 2,020,437 
Cost of sales 1,171,551 1,029,016 980,187 

Gross profit 1,374,090 1,103,673 1,040,250 
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 869,885 765,538 712,930 

Income from operations 504,205 338,135 327,320 
Interest income (2,637) (7,261) (6,028) 
Interest expense 6,028 5,046 4,661 
Other income, net (700) (516) (247) 

Total other expense (income), net 2,691 (2,731) (1,614) 
Income before income taxes 501,514 340,866 328,934 

Income tax expense 118,939 64,724 64,626 
Net income 382,575 276,142 264,308 
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges, net of tax — — (243) 
Foreign currency translation gain (loss) 8,816 (2,905) (9,428) 

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 8,816 (2,905) (9,671) 
Comprehensive income $ 391,391 $ 273,237 $ 254,637 
Net income per share

Basic $ 13.64 $ 9.73 $ 8.92 
Diluted $ 13.47 $ 9.62 $ 8.84 

Weighted-average common shares outstanding
Basic 28,055 28,385 29,641 
Diluted 28,406 28,694 29,903 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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DECKERS OUTDOOR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

(amounts in thousands)

Common Stock Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital

Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Loss

Total 
Stockholders' 

EquityShares Amount

Balance, March 31, 2018  30,447 $ 304 $ 167,587 $ 785,871 $ (12,983) $ 940,779 
Stock-based compensation 
expense 10 — 14,773 — — 14,773 
Shares issued upon vesting 85 1 1,024 — — 1,025 
Cumulative adjustment from 
adoption of recent accounting 
pronouncements — — — 468 — 468 
Shares withheld for taxes — — (5,157) — — (5,157) 
Repurchases of common stock  (1,401) (14) — (161,381) — (161,395) 
Net income — — — 264,308 — 264,308 
Total other comprehensive loss — — — — (9,671) (9,671) 

Balance, March 31, 2019  29,141 291 178,227 889,266 (22,654) 1,045,130 
Stock-based compensation 
expense 10 — 14,471 — — 14,471 
Shares issued upon vesting 86 1 1,287 — — 1,288 
Exercise of stock options 58 1 3,614 — — 3,615 
Cumulative adjustment from 
adoption of recent accounting 
pronouncements — — — (1,068) — (1,068) 
Shares withheld for taxes — — (6,148) — — (6,148) 
Repurchases of common stock  (1,296) (13) — (190,392) — (190,405) 
Net income — — — 276,142 — 276,142 
Total other comprehensive loss — — — — (2,905) (2,905) 

Balance, March 31, 2020  27,999 280 191,451 973,948 (25,559) 1,140,120 
Stock-based compensation 
expense 4 — 22,695 — — 22,695 
Shares issued upon vesting 107 1 1,501 — — 1,502 
Exercise of stock options 107 1 6,774 — — 6,775 
Shares withheld for taxes — — (19,111) — — (19,111) 
Repurchases of common stock (307) (3) — (99,144) — (99,147) 
Net income — — — 382,575 — 382,575 
Total other comprehensive income — — — 8,816 8,816 

Balance, March 31, 2021  27,910 $ 279 $ 203,310 $ 1,257,379 $ (16,743) $ 1,444,225 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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DECKERS OUTDOOR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(amounts in thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 382,575 $ 276,142 $ 264,308 
Reconciliation of net income to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation, amortization, and accretion 40,530 38,912 44,941 
Amortization on cloud computing arrangements 737 — — 
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — 447 
Bad debt expense 3,053 3,498 2,849 
Deferred tax (benefit) expense (8,171) 2,934 6,939 
Stock-based compensation 22,701 14,477 14,774 
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation (586) (1,953) (546) 
Loss on disposal of long lived assets 1,019 698 277 
Impairment of intangible assets 3,522 — — 
Impairment of operating lease assets and other long-lived 
assets 14,084 1,365 180 
Restructuring charges — — 295 
Gain on settlement of asset retirement obligations (207) (705) — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Trade accounts receivable, net (33,173) (10,493) (16,157) 
Inventories, net 33,378 (32,777) 8,827 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (22,128) 2,477 (515) 
Income tax receivable 1,842 (5,811) (165) 
Net operating lease assets and liabilities 250 (3,264) — 
Other assets (3,103) (6,558) 2,630 
Trade accounts payable 79,176 23,312 26,667 
Other accrued expenses 53,785 (11,112) (2,792) 
Income taxes payable 26,403 (6,226) 4,355 
Other long-term liabilities 530 1,418 2,191 

Net cash provided by operating activities 596,217 286,334 359,505 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property and equipment (32,218) (32,455) (29,086) 
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 49 491 68 

Net cash used in investing activities (32,169) (31,964) (29,018) 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from short-term borrowings 9,100 69,336 162,001 
Repayments of short-term borrowings (9,478) (69,197) (161,621) 
Debt issuance costs on short-term borrowings — — (1,297) 
Proceeds from issuance of stock 1,502 1,288 1,025 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 6,775 3,615 — 
Repurchases of common stock (99,147) (190,405) (161,395) 
Cash paid for shares withheld for taxes (7,432) (6,148) (5,328) 
Repayments of mortgage principal (30,901) (603) (578)

Net cash used in financing activities (129,581) (192,114) (167,193) 
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash 
equivalents 5,458 (2,512) (3,572) 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 439,925 59,744 159,722 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 649,436 589,692 429,970 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 1,089,361 $ 649,436 $ 589,692 

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 2019
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DECKERS OUTDOOR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(amounts in thousands)
(continued)

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 2019

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURE
Cash paid during the period
Income taxes, net of refunds of $1,564, $5,389, and 
$3,824, as of March 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, 
respectively $ 104,068 $ 74,573 $ 53,657 
Interest 2,931 2,466 3,811 
Operating leases 57,376 61,120 — 

Non-cash investing activities
Accrued for purchases of property and equipment 2,721 1,171 1,789 
Accrued for asset retirement obligations 1,842 224 4,706 

Non-cash financing activities
Accrued for shares withheld for taxes  11,679 — — 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Reportable Operating Segments. The Company’s six reportable operating segments include the worldwide 
wholesale operations of the UGG brand, HOKA brand, Teva brand, Sanuk brand, and Other brands, as well as DTC 
(collectively, the Company’s reportable operating segments). Refer to Note 12, “Reportable Operating Segments,” 
for further information on the Company’s reportable operating segments. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements. The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has issued 
Accounting Standards Updates (ASUs) that have been adopted and not yet adopted by the Company for its annual 
and interim reporting periods as stated below.

Recently Adopted.  Adopted ASUs during the year ended March 31, 2021 and the impact on the Company, 
were as follows:

ASU No. 2017-04, 
Goodwill and Other: 
Simplifying the Test for 
Goodwill Impairment (as 
amended by ASU 
2019-06)

Requires annual and interim goodwill 
impairment tests be performed by comparing the 
fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying 
amount, effectively eliminating step two of the 
goodwill impairment test under legacy US 
GAAP. The amount by which the carrying 
amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value 
will continue to be recognized as an impairment 
charge. 

The Company adopted this ASU beginning April 1, 2020 on a 
prospective basis, which did not have a material impact on its 
consolidated financial statements. 

ASU No. 2016-13, 
Financial Instruments - 
Credit Losses: 
Measurement of Credit 
Losses on Financial 
Instruments (as 
amended by ASUs 
2018-19, 2019-04, 
2019-05, 2019-11, 
2020-02, and 2020-03)

Replaces the incurred loss impairment 
methodology in legacy US GAAP with a 
methodology that reflects expected credit losses 
and requires consideration of a broader range of 
reasonable and supportable information to 
inform credit loss estimates.

The Company adopted this ASU beginning April 1, 2020 on a 
prospective basis, which did not have a material impact on its 
consolidated financial statements. 

Standard Description Impact on Adoption

Not Yet Adopted. Applicable ASUs issued that have not yet been adopted by the Company, the planned period 
of adoption, and the expected impact on the Company on adoption, are as follows:

ASU No. 2019-12, 
Income Taxes: 
Simplifying the 
Accounting for 
Income Taxes

Removes certain exceptions for 
recognizing deferred taxes for investments, 
performing intra-period allocation, and 
calculating income taxes in interim periods, 
as well as reduces complexity in certain 
areas, including recognizing deferred taxes 
for tax goodwill and allocating taxes to 
members of a consolidated group.

Q1 FY 2022 The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the 
adoption of this ASU; however, the Company does not 
expect that the adoption will have a material impact on its 
consolidated financial statements.

ASU No. 2020-04, 
Reference Rate 
Reform: Facilitation 
of the Effects of 
Reference Rate 
Reform on 
Financial Reporting 
(as amended by 
ASU 2021-01)

London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) is 
a benchmark interest rate referenced in a 
variety of agreements that are used by all 
types of entities. At the end of 2021, banks 
will no longer be required to report 
information that is used to determine 
LIBOR. As a result, LIBOR could be 
discontinued. Other interest rates used 
globally could also be discontinued for 
similar reasons.

This ASU provides companies with optional 
guidance to ease the potential accounting 
burden associated with transitioning away 
from reference rates that are expected to 
be discontinued. Guidance is limited for 
adoption through December 31, 2022.

Q3 FY 2023 The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the 
adoption of this ASU; however, the Company does not 
expect that the adoption will have a material impact on its 
consolidated financial statements.

Standard Description

Planned 
Period of 
Adoption Expected Impact on Adoption
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Fiscal Years Ended March 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019
(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share or share data)
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. The following are a summary of the Company’s significant 
accounting policies applied to its consolidated financial statements:

Cash Equivalents. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three 
months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents included $773,092 and 
$436,241 of money market funds as of March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts. The Company provides an allowance against trade accounts receivable for 
estimated losses that may result from customers’ inability to pay. The Company determines the amount of the 
allowance by analyzing known uncollectible accounts, aged trade accounts receivable, economic conditions and 
forecasts, historical experience and the customers’ creditworthiness. Trade accounts receivable that are 
subsequently determined to be uncollectible are charged or written off against this allowance. Additions to the 
allowance represent bad debt expense estimates which are recorded in SG&A expenses in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income. The allowance includes specific allowances for trade accounts, for which all 
or a portion are identified as potentially uncollectible based on known or anticipated losses. 

Inventories. Inventories, principally finished goods on hand and in transit, are stated at the lower of cost 
(weighted average) or net realizable value at each financial statement date. Cost includes shipping, duty, and 
handling fees which are subsequently expensed to cost of sales. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation. 

Cloud Computing Arrangements. The Company enters into various cloud computing arrangements (CCAs) that 
are governed by service contracts (hosting arrangements) to support operations. Application development stage 
implementation costs (implementation costs) of a hosting arrangement are deferred and recorded to prepaid 
expenses and other assets in the consolidated balance sheets. Implementation costs are expensed on a straight-
line basis and recorded in SG&A expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income over the term 
of the hosting arrangement, including reasonably certain renewals, which are generally one to three years. 

As of March 31, 2021, net capitalized costs for CCAs was $2,983, with $1,308 recorded in prepaid expenses 
and $1,675 in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets. As of March 31, 2020, net capitalized costs for CCAs 
was $626, with $278 recorded in prepaid expenses and $348 in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets. 
The increase in net capitalized costs for CCAs during the year ended March 31, 2021 was primarily due to gross 
additions of $3,097. 

Property and Equipment, Depreciation and Amortization. Property and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and amortization, and generally have a useful life of at least one year. Property and 
equipment include tangible, non-consumable items owned by the Company. Software implementation costs are 
capitalized if they are incurred during the application development stage and relate to costs to obtain computer 
software from third parties, including related consulting expenses, or costs incurred to modify existing software that 
results in additional upgrades or enhancements that provide additional functionality. 

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method based on the estimated 
useful life. Leasehold improvements are amortized to their residual value, if any, on the straight-line basis over their 
estimated economic useful lives or the lease term, whichever is shorter. Changes in the estimate of the useful life of 
an asset may occur after an asset is placed in service. For example, this may occur as a result of the Company 
incurring costs that prolong the useful life of an asset and are recorded as an adjustment to depreciation over the 
revised remaining useful life. Depreciation and amortization are recorded in SG&A expenses in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income. 

Property and equipment, net, are summarized as follows:

Land Indefinite $ 32,865 $ 32,864 

As of March 31,
Useful life (years) 2021 2020
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Building 39.5 35,094 35,093 
Machinery and equipment 2-10 149,494 145,423 
Furniture and fixtures 3-7 36,497 35,024 
Computer software 3-10 94,365 80,718 

Leasehold improvements

Useful life or 
remaining lease term, 
whichever is shorter 110,538 104,497 

Construction in progress 14,262 17,556 
Gross property and equipment 473,115 451,175 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (266,905) (242,138) 

Total $ 206,210 $ 209,037 

As of March 31,
Useful life (years) 2021 2020

Operating Lease Assets and Lease Liabilities. The Company determines if an arrangement contains a lease at 
inception of a contract. The Company recognizes operating lease assets and lease liabilities in the consolidated 
balance sheets on the lease commencement date, based on the present value of the outstanding lease payments 
over the reasonably certain lease term. The lease term includes the non-cancelable period at the lease 
commencement date, plus any additional periods covered by the Company's options to extend (or not to terminate) 
the lease that are reasonably certain to be exercised, or an option to extend (or not to terminate) a lease that is 
controlled by the lessor.  

Operating lease assets are initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the associated 
lease liabilities, adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease commencement date, plus any initial direct 
costs incurred, less any lease incentives, such as tenant allowances. Operating lease assets are subsequently 
measured throughout the lease term at the carrying amount of the associated lease liabilities, plus initial direct 
costs, plus or minus any prepaid or accrued lease payments, less the unamortized balance of lease incentives 
received. Operating lease assets and lease liabilities are presented separately in the consolidated balance sheets 
on a discounted basis. The current portion of operating lease liabilities is presented within current liabilities, while 
the long-term portion is presented separately as long-term operating lease liabilities. Refer to Note 7, “Leases and 
Other Commitments,” for further information on discount rate methodology used to measure operating lease assets 
and lease liabilities.

Rent expense for operating lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and 
recorded in SG&A expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Lease payments recorded in 
the operating lease liability are (1) fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments and fixed rate increases, 
owed over the lease term and (2) exclude any lease prepayments as of the periods presented. Refer to Note 7, 
“Leases and Other Commitments,” for further information on the nature of variable lease payments and timing of 
recognition in rent expense.

The Company has elected not to recognize operating lease assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases, 
which are defined as those operating leases with a term of 12 months or less. Instead, lease payments for short-
term leases are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term in rent expense and recorded as a 
component of SG&A expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
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The Company monitors for events that require a change in estimates for its operating lease assets and lease 
liabilities, such as modifications to the terms of the contract, including the lease term, economic events that may 
trigger a contractual term contingency, such as minimum lease payments or termination rights, and related changes 
in discount rates used to measure the operating lease assets and liabilities, as well as events or circumstances that 
result in lease abandonment or operating lease asset impairments. When a change in estimates results in the 
remeasurement of the operating lease liability, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the 
operating lease asset. The operating lease assets are remeasured and amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
remaining lease term, with no impact on the related operating lease liabilities. Refer to the paragraph titled “Definite-
Lived Intangible and Other Long-Lived Assets” below for further information on the Company’s accounting policy for 
evaluating the carrying amount of its operating lease assets and related leasehold improvements (asset group) for 
indicators of impairment.

Asset Retirement Obligations. The Company is contractually obligated under certain of its lease agreements to 
restore certain retail, office, and warehouse facilities back to their original conditions. At lease inception, the present 
value of the estimated fair value of these liabilities is recorded along with the related asset. The liability is estimated 
based on assumptions requiring management’s judgment, including facility closing costs and discount rates, and is 
accreted to its projected future value over the life of the asset. The Company’s asset retirement obligations (AROs) 
are recorded in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets, and activity was as follows: 

As of March 31,
2021 2020

Balance, March 31, 2020 $ 11,505 $ 12,667 
Additions and changes in estimate 3,571 263 
Liabilities settled during the period (3,495) (1,828) 
Accretion expenses 1,458 499 
Foreign currency translation gains (56) (96)

Balance, March 31, 2021 $ 12,983 $ 11,505 

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets. Goodwill is initially recorded as the excess of the purchase 
price over the fair value of the net assets acquired in a business combination. Indefinite-lived intangible assets 
consist primarily of trademarks, wholesale customer and distributor relationships, patents, lease rights and non-
compete agreements arising from the application of purchase accounting. 

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are instead tested for impairment annually, 
or when an event occurs or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. The 
Company evaluates the goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level for the UGG and HOKA brands wholesale 
reportable operating segments annually as of December 31st of each year and evaluates the Teva brand indefinite-
lived trademarks for impairment annually as of October 31st of each year.

The Company first assesses qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform a quantitative 
assessment of goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets. In general, conditions that may indicate impairment 
include, but are not limited to the following: (1) a significant adverse change in customer demand or business 
climate that could affect the value of an asset; (2) change in market share, budget-to-actual performance, and 
consistency of operating margins and capital expenditures; (3) changes in management or key personnel; or (4) 
changes in general economic conditions. The Company does not calculate the fair value of the assets unless the 
Company determines, based on a qualitative assessment, that it is more likely than not that its fair value is less than 
its carrying amount. If the Company concludes that it is more likely than not that its fair value is less than its carrying 
amount, then the Company prepares a quantitative assessment. 
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Sales Return Liability. Reserves are recorded for anticipated future returns of goods shipped prior to the end of 
the reporting period. In general, the Company accepts returns for damaged or defective products for up to one year. 
The Company also has a policy whereby returns are generally accepted from customers between 30 to 90 days 
from the point of sale for cash or credit. Amounts of these reserves are based on known and actual returns, 
historical returns, and any recent events that could result in a change from historical return rates. Sales returns are 
an asset for the right to recover the inventory and a refund liability for the stand-ready right of return. Changes to the 
refund liability are recorded against gross sales and changes to the asset for the right to recover the inventory are 
recorded against cost of sales in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The refund liability is 
recorded in other accrued expenses and the related asset for the right to recover the inventory is recorded in other 
current assets in the consolidated balance sheets. 

Activity during the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 related to estimated sales returns were as follows:

Recovery Asset Refund Liability

Balance, March 31, 2019 $ 10,441 $ (24,787) 
Net additions to sales return liability* 36,028 (117,969) 
Actual returns (36,806) 117,089 

Balance, March 31, 2020 9,663 (25,667) 
Net additions to sales return liability* 39,939 (153,742) 
Actual returns (38,898) 141,692 

Balance, March 31, 2021 $ 10,704 $ (37,717) 

*Net additions to sales return liability include a provision for anticipated sales returns which consists of both
contractual return rights and discretionary authorized returns. 

Contract Assets and Liabilities. Contract assets represent the Company’s right to consideration subject to 
conditions other than the passage of time, such as additional performance obligations to be satisfied. Contract 
liabilities are performance obligations that the Company expects to satisfy or relieve within the next 12 months, 
advance consideration obtained prior to satisfying a performance obligation, or unconditional obligations to provide 
goods or services under non-cancelable contracts before the transfer of goods or services to the customer has 
occurred. Contract assets and liabilities are recorded in other current assets and other accrued expenses, 
respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets. 

Loyalty Programs. The Company has a consumer loyalty program for the UGG brand in its DTC channel where 
consumers can earn rewards from qualifying purchases or activities. The Company defers recognition of revenue 
for unredeemed awards until the following occurs: (1) rewards are redeemed by the consumer, (2) points or 
certificates expire, or (3) an estimate of the expected unused portion of points or certificates is applied, which is 
based on historical redemption patterns. As of March 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s contract liability for loyalty 
programs was $12,231 and $6,950, respectively, and is recorded in other accrued expenses in the consolidated 
balance sheets. 

Refer to Note 12, “Reportable Operating Segments,” for further information on the Company's disaggregation 
of revenue by reportable operating segment.
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Note 3.  Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company’s goodwill and other intangible assets are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets, as 
follows:

Goodwill
UGG brand $ 6,101 $ 6,101 
HOKA brand 7,889 7,889 
Total goodwill 13,990 13,990 

Other intangible assets
Indefinite-lived intangible assets
Trademarks 15,454 15,454 

Definite-lived intangible assets
Trademarks 51,723 55,245 
Other 52,241 51,738 

Total gross carrying amount 103,964 106,983 
Accumulated amortization (77,473) (74,421) 

Net definite-lived intangible assets 26,491 32,562 
Total other intangible assets, net 41,945 48,016 

Total $ 55,935 $ 62,006 

As of March 31,
2021 2020

The weighted-average amortization period for definite-lived intangible assets was 15 and 16 years for the 
years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Intangible assets consist primarily of indefinite-lived 
trademarks and definite-lived trademarks, wholesale customer and distributor relationships, patents, lease rights, 
and non-compete agreements arising from the application of purchase accounting. Goodwill is allocated to the 
wholesale reportable operating segments of the brands described above.

Annual Impairment Assessment. During the years ended March 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, the Company 
evaluated the goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level for the UGG and HOKA brands wholesale reportable 
operating segment as of December 31st and evaluated its Teva indefinite-lived trademarks as of October 31st, and 
based on the evaluation performed, no impairment loss was recorded for the goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible 
assets. As of March 31, 2021 and 2020, the gross carrying amount of goodwill was $143,765 and the accumulated 
impairment losses were $129,775. 

During the year ended March 31, 2021, the Company recorded an impairment loss of $3,522 for the Sanuk 
brand definite-lived international trademark, driven by the strategic decision to focus primarily on future domestic 
growth, within our Sanuk brand wholesale reportable operating segment in SG&A expenses in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income. The Company did not identify any definite-lived intangible asset impairments 
during the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
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Amortization Expense. A reconciliation of the changes in total other intangible assets in the consolidated 
balance sheets, are as follows:

Amounts

Balance, March 31, 2018 $ 57,850 
Amortization expense (6,235) 
Foreign currency translation net loss (121) 

Balance, March 31, 2019 51,494 
Amortization expense (3,470) 
Foreign currency translation net loss (8) 

Balance, March 31, 2020 48,016 
Impairment charges (3,522) 
Amortization expense (2,565) 
Foreign currency translation net gain 16 

Balance, March 31, 2021 $ 41,945 

Expected amortization expense for amortizable intangible assets subsequent to March 31, 2021 is as follows:

Years Ending March 31, Amounts

2022 $ 2,244 
2023 2,228 
2024 2,208 
2025 2,053 
2026 1,899 
Thereafter 15,859 

Total $ 26,491 

Note 4.  Fair Value Measurements

The accounting standard for fair value measurements provides a framework for measuring fair value, which is 
defined as the price that would be received for an asset or the exit price that would be paid to transfer a liability in 
the principal or most advantageous market in an orderly transaction between market participants on the 
measurement date. The fair value hierarchy under this accounting standard requires an entity to maximize the use 
of observable inputs, where available. The following summarizes the three levels of inputs required:

• Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

• Level 2: Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and
liabilities.

• Level 3: Unobservable inputs in which little or no market activity exists, therefore requiring the
Company to develop its own assumptions.

The carrying amount of the Company’s financial instruments, which principally include cash and cash 
equivalents, trade accounts receivable, net, trade accounts payable, accrued payroll, and other accrued expenses, 
approximates fair value due to their short-term nature. The carrying amount of the Company’s short-term 
borrowings, which are considered Level 2 liabilities, approximates fair value based upon current rates and terms 
available to the Company for similar debt.
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Assets and liabilities that are measured on a recurring basis at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets, 
are as follows:

As of Measured Using
March 31, 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Non-qualified deferred compensation asset $ 9,107 $ 9,107 $ — $ — 
Non-qualified deferred compensation liability (6,692) (6,692) — — 

As of Measured Using
March 31, 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Non-qualified deferred compensation asset $ 6,164 $ 6,164 $ — $ — 
Non-qualified deferred compensation liability (3,756) (3,756) — — 

As of March 31, 2021, the non-qualified deferred compensation asset of $9,107 was recorded in other assets 
in the consolidated balance sheets. As of March 31, 2021, the non-qualified deferred compensation liability of 
$6,692 was recorded in the consolidated balance sheets, with $906 in other accrued expenses and $5,786 in other 
long-term liabilities.

Note 5.  Income Taxes

Income Before Income Taxes. Components of income before income taxes recorded in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income, were as follows:

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 2019

Domestic* $ 368,328 $ 206,111 $ 181,730 
Foreign 133,186 134,755 147,204 

Total $ 501,514 $ 340,866 $ 328,934 

*Domestic income before income taxes for the years ended March 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 is presented net
of intercompany dividends of $175,000, $150,000, and $130,000, respectively.

 Income Tax Expense. Components of income tax expense (benefit) recorded in the consolidated statements 
of comprehensive income, were as follows:

Current
Federal $ 93,562 $ 47,087 $ 33,334 
State 15,595 635 9,084 
Foreign 17,953 14,068 15,269 

Total 127,110 61,790 57,687 
Deferred

Federal (6,717) 4,626 6,612 
State (633) (462) 2,236 
Foreign (821) (1,230) (1,909) 

Total (8,171) 2,934 6,939 
Total $ 118,939 $ 64,724 $ 64,626 

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 2019
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Income Tax Expense Reconciliation. Income tax expense (benefit) differed from that obtained by applying 
the statutory federal income tax rate to income before income taxes, as follows:

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 2019

Computed expected income taxes $ 105,318 $ 71,582 $ 69,076 
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit 16,479 11,042 9,329 
Foreign rate differential (15,507) (17,966) (20,105) 
Unrecognized tax benefits 7,632 6,695 786 
Dividends from previously taxed earnings (5,313) (4,584) (4,257) 
Nondeductible executive compensation 11,070 4,162 7,742 
US tax on foreign earnings* 4,252 2,343 5,848 
Re-measurement of deferred taxes — — (983) 
Tax audit settlements 1,147 (3,956) — 
Employee share based compensation excess tax benefits (6,846) (2,477) (1,445) 
Other 707 (2,117) (1,365) 

Total $ 118,939 $ 64,724 $ 64,626 

*These amounts represent global intangible low-taxed income (commonly referred to as GILTI) under the
territorial tax system pursuant to the Tax Reform Act, net of foreign derived intangible income tax benefit.

Due to the enactment of Tax Reform Act, the Company is subject to US taxation of its foreign subsidiary 
earnings considered global intangible low-taxed income, as well as limitations on the deductions of executive 
compensation, which are included in income tax expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income 
for the periods presented above. In accordance with the Securities Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin 
No. 118 (SAB 118), issued December 22, 2017, the Company completed its accounting for the material effects of 
the Tax Reform Act during the quarter ended December 31, 2018. In connection with finalizing the tax effects of the 
Tax Reform Act, the Company recorded immaterial measurement period adjustments during the year ended March 
31, 2019 including a reduction from $59,114 to $57,895 related to the one-time mandatory deemed repatriation tax 
on accumulated foreign earnings. Refer to section below entitled “US Taxation of Foreign Earnings” for further 
information. The Company continues to evaluate new guidance and legislation as it is issued.

In response to the pandemic, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was signed 
into law on March 27th, 2020 and the American Rescue Plan Act (ARP Act) was signed into law on March 10, 2021. 
This legislation made broad changes to the US tax code and the Company expects to see future regulatory and 
legislative guidance issued. The Company reviewed the provisions of the CARES Act and the ARP Act and 
considers the effect to be immaterial to its consolidated financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2021 
and 2020.

Deferred Taxes. The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax 
assets and deferred tax liabilities, are as follows:

Deferred tax assets
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets $ 7,302 $ 11,471 
Nonvested stock-based compensation 7,138 5,194 
Operating lease liability 37,707 45,600 
Uniform capitalization adjustment to inventory 5,256 4,322 
Bad debt allowance and other reserves 19,321 14,243 

As of March 31,
2021 2020
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Accrued bonuses 8,491 6,187 
Foreign currency translation 646 645 
Net operating loss carry-forwards, net of valuation allowances 1,663 2,071 
Other 3,048 1,372 
Gross deferred tax assets 90,572 91,105 

Valuation allowances (1,197) (1,519) 
Total 89,375 89,586 

Deferred tax liabilities
Prepaid expenses (3,829) (4,252) 
Operating lease asset (30,754) (41,276) 
Depreciation of property and equipment (17,598) (15,825) 
Total (52,181) (61,353) 

Deferred tax assets, net $ 37,194 $ 28,233 

As of March 31,
2021 2020

In order to fully realize the deferred tax assets, the Company will need to generate future taxable income of 
$154,715. The deferred tax assets are primarily related to the Company’s domestic operations and are currently 
expected to be realized between fiscal years 2022 and 2031. 

Based on the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over the periods in 
which the deferred tax assets are deductible, management believes it is more likely than not that the results of 
future operations will generate sufficient taxable income to realize the net deferred tax assets. The Company’s 
deferred tax valuation allowances are primarily the result of foreign losses in jurisdictions with limited future 
profitability. 

US Taxation of Foreign Earnings. At March 31, 2019, the Company completed the calculation of the one-
time transition tax on the deemed repatriation of foreign subsidiaries’ earnings pursuant to the Tax Reform Act and 
previously recorded a net cumulative tax expense of $57,895, net of foreign tax credits. Beginning with tax year 
ended March 31, 2018, an installment election was made to pay these taxes over eight years with 40% paid in 
equal installments over the first five years and the remaining 60% to be paid in installments of 15%, 20% and 25% 
in years six, seven and eight, respectively. The cumulative remaining balance as of March 31, 2021 was $41,452, 
with $2,586 recorded in income taxes payable and $38,866 in long-term income tax liability in the consolidated 
balance sheets. 

As of March 31, 2021, the Company reported $303,171 of undistributed earnings from its non-US subsidiaries, 
of which $180,951 relates to cash and cash equivalents, a portion of which may be subject to additional foreign 
withholding taxes if it were to be repatriated. As of March 31, 2021, the Company reported $13,019 of accumulated 
earnings from its non-US subsidiaries for which no US federal or state income taxes have been provided. The 
Company currently anticipates repatriating current and future unremitted earnings of non-US subsidiaries, to the 
extent they have been and will be subject to US income tax, as long as such cash is not required to fund ongoing 
foreign operations. Due to the complexities in the laws of foreign jurisdictions and assumptions that would have to 
be made, it is not practicable to estimate the amount of foreign withholding taxes associated with such unremitted 
earnings. During the year ended March 31, 2021, the Company declared a dividend of $175,000 from a foreign 
subsidiary, for which no foreign withholding taxes were required. 
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Unrecognized Tax Benefits. When tax returns are filed, some positions taken are subject to uncertainty about 
the merits of the position taken or the amount that would be ultimately sustained upon examination. The benefit of a 
tax position is recorded in the consolidated financial statements in the period during which the Company believes it 
is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The recognition 
threshold is measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon 
settlement. The portion of the benefit that exceeds the amount measured, as described above, is recorded as a 
liability for unrecognized tax benefits, along with any associated interest and penalties, in the consolidated balance 
sheets. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of total gross unrecognized tax benefits, are as 
follows:

Balance, March 31, 2018 $ 9,594 
Gross increase related to current fiscal year tax positions 1,027 
Gross increase related to prior fiscal year tax positions 3,282 
Settlements (1,157) 
Lapse of statute of limitations (1,804) 

Balance, March 31, 2019 10,942 
Gross increase related to current fiscal year tax positions 1,153 
Gross increase related to prior fiscal year tax positions 8,152 
Settlements (246) 
Lapse of statute of limitations (2,363) 

Balance, March 31, 2020 17,638 
Gross increase related to current fiscal year tax positions 2,242 
Gross increase related to prior fiscal year tax positions 8,566 
Gross decrease related to prior fiscal year tax positions (1,215) 
Lapse of statute of limitations (1,961) 

Balance, March 31, 2021 $ 25,270 

Total gross unrecognized tax benefits recorded in the consolidated balance sheets, are as follows:

As of March 31,
2021 2020

Long-term asset
Deferred tax assets, net $ — $ 486 

Current liability
Income taxes payable 1,038 — 

Long-term liability
Income tax liability 24,232 17,152 
Total $ 25,270 $ 17,638 

As of March 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had $4,782 and $3,631 accrued for the payment of interest and 
penalties, respectively, in income tax liability in the consolidated balance sheets. During the years ended March 31, 
2021, 2020, and 2019, the Company recorded $1,151, $1,176, and $(110), respectively, of interest and penalties as 
an increase or (decrease) to interest expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. 

Management believes it is reasonably possible that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits, as well as 
associated interest and penalties, may decrease during the next 12 months by $4,544 related primarily to the 
expiration of statute of limitations, partially offset by additional unrecognized tax benefits relating to current fiscal 
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Note 7.  Leases and Other Commitments

Leases. The Company primarily leases retail stores, showrooms, offices, and distribution facilities under 
operating lease agreements which continue in effect through calendar year 2031. Some of the Company's operating 
leases contain extension options of anywhere from one to 15 years. Historically, the Company has not entered into 
finance leases and its lease agreements generally do not contain residual value guarantees, options to purchase 
underlying assets, or material restrictive covenants.

Variable Lease Payments. Certain leases require additional payments based on (1) actual or forecasted sales 
volume (either monthly or annually), (2) reimbursement for real estate taxes (tax), (3) common area maintenance 
(CAM), and (4) insurance (collectively, variable lease payments). Variable lease payments are generally excluded 
from operating lease assets and liabilities and are recorded in rent expense as a component of SG&A expenses in 
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Some leases are dependent upon forecasted annual sales 
volume, and lease payments are recognized on a straight-line basis as rent expense over each annual period when 
the achievement of the related sales target is reasonably likely to occur. Other variable lease payments, such as 
tax, CAM and insurance, are recognized in rent expense as incurred. Some leases contain one fixed lease payment 
that include variable lease payments, which are considered non-lease components. The Company has elected to 
account for these instances as a single lease component and the total of these fixed payments is used to measure 
the operating lease assets and lease liabilities. 

Discount Rate. The Company discounts its unpaid lease payments using the interest rate implicit in the lease 
or, if the rate cannot be readily determined, its incremental borrowing rate (IBR). Generally, the Company cannot 
determine the interest rate implicit in the lease because it does not have access to the lessor's estimated residual 
value or the amount of the lessor's deferred initial direct costs. Therefore, the Company generally derives a discount 
rate at the lease commencement date by utilizing its IBR, which is based on what the Company would have to pay 
on a collateralized basis to borrow an amount equal to its lease payments under similar terms. Because the 
Company does not currently borrow on a collateralized basis under its revolving credit facilities, it uses the interest 
rate it pays on its non-collateralized borrowings under its Primary Credit Facility as an input for deriving an 
appropriate IBR, adjusted for the amount of the lease payments, the lease term, and the effect on that rate of 
designating specific collateral with a value equal to the unpaid lease payments for that lease.

Rent Expense. The components of rent expense for operating leases recorded in the consolidated statements 
of comprehensive income under the new lease standard, were as follows:

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020

Operating $ 52,849 $ 57,966 
Variable 24,033 26,996 
Short-term 3,015 3,332 

Total $ 79,897 $ 88,294 

The components of rent expense for operating leases recorded in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income under legacy US GAAP, prior to the adoption of ASU 2016-02 as of April 1, 2019, were as 
follows:

Year Ended 
March 31, 2019

Minimum rentals $ 60,859 
Contingent rentals 13,226 

Total $ 74,085 
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Operating Lease Liabilities. Maturities of undiscounted operating lease liabilities remaining as of March 31, 
2021 under the new lease standard, with a reconciliation to the present value of operating lease liabilities recorded 
in the consolidated balance sheets, are as follows:

Years Ending March 31, Amount*

2022 $ 49,528 
2023 44,165 
2024 38,068 
2025 30,307 
2026 26,400 
Thereafter 56,950 

Total undiscounted future lease payments 245,418 
Less: Imputed interest (22,376) 

Total $ 223,042 

*Operating lease liabilities recorded in the consolidated balance sheets exclude $20,284 of legally binding
undiscounted minimum lease payments due pursuant to a lease signed but not yet commenced for a new US 
distribution center.

Supplemental Disclosure. Key estimates and judgments related to operating lease assets and liabilities that 
are outstanding and presented in the consolidated balance sheets, are as follows:

As of March 31,
2021 2020

Weighted-average remaining lease term in years 6.0 6.6
Weighted-average discount rate  3.1 %  3.3 %

Supplemental information for amounts presented in the consolidated statements of cash flows related to 
operating leases, were as follows:

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020

Non-cash operating activities
Operating lease assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities* $ 9,861 $ 71,097 
Reductions to operating lease assets for reductions to lease liabilities* (12,051) (7,055) 

*Amounts disclosed include non-cash additions or reductions resulting from lease remeasurements.

Purchase Obligations. The Company has various types of purchase obligations, as follows:

Product. The Company had $566,820 of outstanding purchase orders or other obligations with its 
manufacturers as of March 31, 2021. The Company has an extended design and manufacturing process, which 
requires it to forecast production volumes and estimate inventory requirements many months before consumers 
decide to purchase its products. The Company generally orders product two to nine months in advance of the 
anticipated shipment dates based primarily on a combination of product lead time and orders received from 
wholesale customers and through the DTC reportable operating segment. Accordingly, the aggregate amount 
reflects purchase commitments for products that the Company reasonably expects to fulfill in the ordinary course of 
business. However, a significant portion of the purchase commitments can be cancelled by the Company under 
certain circumstances. As a result, the amount does not necessarily reflect the dollar amount of the Company’s 
binding commitments or minimum purchase commitments, and instead reflects an estimate of its future payment 
commitments based on information currently available.
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Commodities. The Company had an aggregate of $150,594 remaining purchase commitments, primarily for 
sheepskin, as well as leather, as of March 31, 2021. These commitments generally arise under two-year supply 
agreements. The aggregate amount reflects the remaining commitments under these purchase orders. The 
Company enters into contracts requiring purchase commitments of sheepskin and leather that its affiliates, 
manufacturers, factories, and other agents (each or collectively, a Buyer) must make on or before a specified target 
date. These agreements may result in unconditional purchase commitments if a Buyer does not meet the minimum 
purchase requirements. In the event that a Buyer does not purchase such minimum commitments by the target 
dates, the Company would be responsible for compliance with any and all minimum purchase commitments under 
these contracts, and the Company would make additional deposit payments towards the purchase of the remaining 
minimum commitments and such additional deposits would be returned as the Buyer purchases the remaining 
minimum commitments. The contracts do not permit net settlement. There were $8,322 of deposits on expired 
sheepskin contracts that have not been fully consumed as of March 31, 2021 which is recorded in other assets in 
the consolidated balance sheets.

During the year ended March 31, 2021, the Company experienced a shift in product mix that used less of a 
certain sheepskin grade. As a result, the Company negotiated a deferral of additional deposit payments, which 
represent remaining minimum commitments under expired sheepskin supply agreements. As of March 31, 2021, the 
remaining minimum purchase commitment under these expired agreements was approximately $28,000. 
Subsequent to March 31, 2021 through May 13, 2021, this deposit was paid.

Total future minimum commitments for commodities contracts as of March 31, 2021 were as follows:

Contract Effective Date Final Target Date Contract Value
Remaining

Commitment

July 2017 September 2019 $ 7,200 $ 5,223 
April 2018 September 2020 45,600 6,443 

October 2018 September 2020 27,350 25,336 
October 2018 September 2021 41,210 41,210 

April 2019 September 2020 8,906 8,906 
October 2019 June 2020 28,800 10,580 
October 2019 June 2021 16,644 16,644 
March 2021 June 2022 21,878 21,878 
March 2021 September 2022 22,200 14,374 

$ 219,788 $ 150,594 

The Company expects that purchases made under these agreements in the ordinary course of business will 
eventually exceed the minimum commitment levels, and that any deposits will become fully refundable or will be 
reflected as a credit against purchases. The amounts above do not necessarily reflect the dollar amount of the 
Company’s binding commitments or minimum purchase obligations, and instead reflect an estimate of its future 
payment obligations based on information currently available. 

Other. The Company had an aggregate of $102,317 of other purchase commitments as of March 31, 2021, 
which consisted of minimum commitments for logistics arrangements, an IT agreement for a new inventory planning 
system, requirements to pay promotional expenses, and other commitments under service contracts.
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Shares Granted

Weighted-
average grant 
date fair value 

per share Shares Granted

Weighted-
average grant 
date fair value 

per share Shares Granted

Weighted-
average grant 
date fair value 

per share
Annual RSUs 47,015 $ 220.31 47,577 $ 171.50 62,743 $ 116.85 
Annual PSUs — — 19,938 174.36 31,320 116.34 

Total 47,015 $ 220.31 67,515 $ 172.34 94,063 $ 116.68 

Years Ended March 31,

Annual award activity recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, were as follows:

Nonvested, March 31, 2018 289,297 $ 65.18 
Granted 94,063 116.68 
Vested (118,903) (64.39) 
Forfeited (33,058) (77.60) 

Nonvested, March 31, 2019 231,399 84.75 
Granted 67,515 172.34 
Vested (121,572) (76.81) 
Forfeited (14,993) (113.49) 

Nonvested, March 31, 2020 162,349 124.47 
Granted 47,015 220.31 
Vested (92,614) (104.92) 
Forfeited (3,664) (147.34) 

Nonvested, March 31, 2021 113,086 $ 179.58 

Number of
Shares

Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date
Fair Value

Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards. The Company evaluates at least quarterly the probability of achieving 
performance criteria included in its LTIP PSUs against its most current forecast. LTIP awards recorded in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, were as follows:

2021 LTIP PSUs. In March 2021, the Company approved LTIP awards under the 2015 SIP for the issuance of 
PSUs (2021 LTIP PSUs), which were awarded to certain members of the Company's management team, including 
the Company's named executive officers and vice presidents. The 2021 LTIP PSUs are subject to vesting based on 
service conditions over either two or three years. The Company must meet certain revenue and pre-tax income 
performance targets individually over three reporting periods for the year ended March 31, 2021, and for the fiscal 
years ending March 31, 2022 and 2023 (collectively, the Measurement Periods) and incorporates a relative total 
stockholder return (TSR) modifier for both the 24-month performance period (commencing on April 1, 2021) and 36-
month performance period (commencing on April 1, 2020) ending March 31, 2023 (collectively, the Performance 
Periods). To the extent financial performance is achieved above the threshold levels for each of these performance 
criteria, the number of 2021 LTIP PSUs that will vest will increase up to a maximum of 200% of the targeted amount 
for that award. No vesting of any portion of the 2021 LTIP PSUs will occur if the Company fails to achieve the 
minimum revenue and pre-tax income amounts for each reporting period equal to at least 100% of the threshold 
amounts for these criteria. Following the determination of the Company’s achievement with respect to the revenue 
and pre-tax income criteria for the Measurement Periods, the vesting of each 2021 LTIP PSU will be subject to 
adjustment based on the application of a relative TSR modifier. The amount of the adjustment will be determined 
based on a comparison of the Company's TSR relative to the TSR of a pre-determined set of peer group companies 
for the Performance Period. A Monte-Carlo simulation model was used to determine the grant date fair value by 
simulating a range of possible future stock prices for the Company and each member of the peer group over the 
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Performance Periods.

The Company granted awards at the target performance level of 19,890 2021 LTIP PSUs during the year 
ended March 31, 2021. The grant date fair value of these 2021 LTIP PSUs was $376.45 per share. Based on the 
Company's current long-range forecast, the Company determined that the achievement of at least the target 
performance criteria for each of the Measurement Periods for these awards was probable as of the grant date. 

2020 LTIP PSUs. In September 2019, the Company approved LTIP awards under the 2015 SIP for the 
issuance of PSUs (2020 LTIP PSUs), which were awarded to certain members of the Company's senior 
management team, including the Company's named executive officers. The 2020 LTIP PSUs are subject to vesting 
based on service conditions over three years, as well as the Company meeting certain revenue and pre-tax income 
performance targets for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2022 (2022 Measurement Period) and incorporates a 
relative TSR modifier for the 36-month performance period commencing on April 1, 2019 and ending March 31, 
2022 (2022 Performance Period). To the extent financial performance is achieved above the threshold levels for 
each of these performance criteria, the number of 2020 LTIP PSUs that will vest will increase up to a maximum 
of 200% of the targeted amount for that award. No vesting of any portion of the 2020 LTIP PSUs will occur if the 
Company fails to achieve revenue and pre-tax income amounts equal to at least 90% of the threshold amounts for 
these criteria. Following the determination of the Company’s achievement with respect to the revenue and pre-tax 
income criteria for the 2022 Measurement Period, the vesting of each 2020 LTIP PSU will be subject to adjustment 
based on the application of a relative TSR modifier. The amount of the adjustment will be determined based on a 
comparison of the Company's TSR relative to the TSR of a pre-determined set of peer group companies for 
the 2022 Performance Period. A Monte-Carlo simulation model was used to determine the grant date fair value by 
simulating a range of possible future stock prices for the Company and each member of the peer group over 
the 2022 Performance Period.

The Company granted awards at the target performance level of 38,174 2020 LTIP PSUs during the year 
ended March 31, 2020. The grant date fair value of these 2020 LTIP PSUs was $146.96 per share. The Company 
currently expects to exceed the financial performance threshold levels as defined above for each of the 
performance criteria, and, therefore the maximum number of 2020 LTIP PSUs that is expected to vest is 200% of 
the targeted amount for that award.

2019 LTIP PSUs. In September 2018, the Company approved LTIP awards under the 2015 SIP for the 
issuance of PSUs (2019 LTIP PSUs), which were awarded to certain members of the Company’s senior 
management team, including the Company’s named executive officers. The 2019 LTIP PSUs are subject to vesting 
based on service conditions over three years, as well as the Company meeting certain revenue and pre-tax income 
performance targets for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 (2021 Measurement Period) and incorporates a 
relative TSR modifier for the 36-month performance period commencing on April 1, 2018 and ended March 31, 2021 
(2021 Performance Period). To the extent financial performance is achieved above the threshold levels for each of 
these performance criteria, the number of 2019 LTIP PSUs that will vest will increase up to a maximum of 200% of 
the targeted amount for that award. No vesting of any portion of the 2019 LTIP PSUs will occur if the Company fails 
to achieve revenue and pre-tax income amounts equal to at least 90% of the threshold amounts for these criteria. 
Following the determination of the Company’s achievement with respect to the revenue and pre-tax income criteria 
for the 2021 Measurement Period, the vesting of each 2019 LTIP PSUs will be subject to adjustment based on the 
application of a TSR modifier. The amount of the adjustment will be determined based on a comparison of the 
Company’s TSR relative to the TSR of a pre-determined set of peer group companies for 2021 Performance Period. 
A Monte Carlo simulation model was used to determine the grant date fair value by simulating a range of possible 
future stock prices for the Company and each member of the peer group over the 2022 Performance Period.

The Company granted awards at the target performance level of 41,793 2019 LTIP PSUs during the year 
ended March 31, 2019. The grant date fair value of these 2019 LTIP PSUs was $120.24 per share. The Company 
exceeded the financial performance threshold levels as defined above for each of the performance criteria, and, 
therefore the maximum number of 2019 LTIP PSUs that vested as of March 31, 2021 was 200% of the targeted 
amount for that award. 
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LTIP award activity recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, were as follows:

Nonvested, March 31, 2018 — $ — 
Granted* 83,586 120.24 
Forfeited (6,488) (120.24) 

Nonvested, March 31, 2019 77,098 120.24 
Granted* 76,348 146.96 

Nonvested, March 31, 2020 153,446 133.53 
Granted* 39,780 376.45 
Vested (77,098) (106.37) 

Nonvested, March 31, 2021 116,128 $ 215.30 

Number of
Shares

Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date
Fair Value

*The amounts granted are the maximum amounts under the terms of the applicable LTIP PSUs.

Long-Term Incentive Plan Options. During the years ended March 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, no LTIP 
NQSOs were granted. Previously, the Company approved the issuance of LTIP NQSOs under the 2015 SIP, 
including in June 2017 (2018 LTIP NQSOs), which were awarded to certain members of the Company’s 
management team, with a maximum contractual term of seven years from the grant date. If the recipient provided 
continuous service, the LTIP NQSOs would vest after the Company had determined it achieved the target 
performance criteria by the date specified in the award. 

As of March 31, 2020, the Company determined that the target performance criteria related to the LTIP NQSOs 
for the year ended March 31, 2020 were achieved. Each vested LTIP NQSO provides the recipient the right to 
purchase a specified number of shares of the Company’s common stock at a fixed exercise price per share based 
on the closing price of the common stock on the date of grant. 

LTIP option activity recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, were as follows:

Number of
Shares

Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date
Fair Value

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term
(Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

Nonvested, March 31, 2018 397,340 $ 65.70 7.1 $ 9,666 
Forfeited (35,957) (69.29) 

Nonvested, March 31, 2019 361,383 65.35 6.2 29,504 
Exercised (58,444) (61.86) 

Nonvested, March 31, 2020 302,939 66.02 5.0 20,594 
Exercised (107,197) (63.20) 

Nonvested, March 31, 2021 195,742 $ 67.56 3.6 $ 51,452 
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The Company measured stock-based compensation expense for the 2018 LTIP NQSOs at the date of grant 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, with the following weighted-average valuation assumptions:

Expected life (in years) 4.90
Expected volatility  38.73 %
Risk free interest rate  1.78 %
Dividend yield  — %
Weighted-average exercise price $ 69.29 
Weighted-average option value $ 25.03 

2018 LTIP 
NQSOs

Grants to Directors. Each of the Company’s nonemployee directors is entitled to receive common stock with 
a total value of $125 for annual service on the Board of Directors. The shares are issued in equal quarterly 
installments with the number of shares being determined using the rolling average of the closing price of the 
Company’s common stock during the last ten trading days leading up to, and including, the 15th day of the last 
month of each quarterly period. Each of these shares is fully vested on the date of issuance.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense. Components of stock-based compensation expense recorded in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, were as follows:

Annual RSUs $ 7,820 $ 6,509 $ 6,588 
Annual PSUs 1,900 2,851 2,373 
LTIP PSUs 11,555 2,203 885 
LTIP NQSOs — 1,641 3,516 
Grants to Directors 1,195 1,045 1,223 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 231 228 189 

Total stock-based compensation expense, pre-tax 22,701 14,477 14,774 
Income tax benefit (5,441) (3,308) (3,546) 
Total stock-based compensation expense, net of tax $ 17,260 $ 11,169 $ 11,228 

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 2019

Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The 2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) authorizes 1,000,000 
shares of the Company’s common stock for sale to eligible employees using their after-tax payroll deductions, which 
are refundable until purchases are made, and are liability-classified. ESPP shares are excluded from basic earnings 
per share until purchases are made, while included in diluted earnings per share computations as after-tax payroll 
deductions are made. Each consecutive purchase period is six months (purchase period) in duration and shares are 
purchased on the last trading day of the purchase period (no look-back provision) for a fixed amount at a 15% 
discount to the closing price on that date. Purchase windows take place in February and August of each fiscal year. 
The net difference between the timing of compensation expense incurred and remeasured during the purchase 
period and purchase windows are recorded in other accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets. 
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Unrecognized Stock-Based Compensation Expense. Total remaining unrecognized stock-based compensation 
expense as of March 31, 2021 related to non-vested awards that the Company considers probable to vest and the 
weighted-average period over which the cost is expected to be recognized in future periods, are as follows:

Unrecognized
Stock-based 

Compensation
Expense

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Vesting Period 

(Years)

Annual RSUs $ 8,911 1.1
Annual PSUs 842 0.7
LTIP PSUs 14,645 1.4

Total $ 24,398 

Note 9.  Derivative Instruments

As of March 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had no outstanding derivative contracts, however, settled 
derivative contracts with notional values were as follows:

2021 2020

Designated Derivative Contracts $ 68,241 $ 65,569 
Non-Designated Derivative Contracts 18,909 49,251 

Total $ 87,150 $ 114,820 

Years Ended March 31,

The following table summarizes the effect of Designated Derivative Contracts and the related income tax 
effects of unrealized gains or losses recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income for changes 
in AOCL:

(Loss) gain recorded in Other comprehensive income $ (1,223) $ 1,516 $ 8,355 
Reclassifications from AOCL into net sales 1,223 (1,516) (8,675) 
Income tax benefit in Other comprehensive income* — — 77 

Total $ — $ — $ (243) 

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 2019

*The amount for the year ended March 31, 2019 is inclusive of the income tax effects from the Tax Reform Act
reclassified from AOCL to retained earnings in the consolidated balance sheets in connection with the previous 
adoption of a new accounting standard. 

The Company had settled all its outstanding Designated Derivative Contracts as of March 31, 2021 and 2020, 
and therefore the amounts are zero for each respective year. 

Amounts excluded from effectiveness testing recorded in SG&A expenses for Designated Derivative Contracts 
were as follows:

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 2019

Gain excluded from effectiveness testing recorded in SG&A 
expenses* $ — $ — $ 1,918 
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*The amount for the year ended March 31, 2019 was recognized under legacy US GAAP. Beginning April 1,
2019, under the new hedging standard, these amounts are now recorded as a component of AOCL and were 
classified in net sales during the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020.

The following table summarizes the effect of Non-Designated Derivative Contracts:

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 2019

Gain recorded in SG&A expenses $ 267 $ 328 $ 1,393 

The non-performance risk of the Company and the counterparties did not have a material impact on the fair 
value of its derivative contracts.

Note 10.  Stockholders’ Equity

Stock Repurchase Programs. In January 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a stock 
repurchase program that authorized the Company to repurchase a total of up to $261,000 of its common stock in 
the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, subject to market conditions, applicable legal requirements, 
and other factors (the stock repurchase program). 

As of March 31, 2021, the aggregate remaining approved amount under the Company’s stock repurchase 
program was $60,660. The Company’s current revolving credit agreements allow it to make stock repurchases 
under this program, as long as the Company does not exceed certain leverage ratios and no event of default has 
occurred under this arrangement. 

Stock repurchase activity under the Company’s stock repurchase program, was as follows:

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 2019

Total number of shares repurchased* 307,080 1,296,201 1,400,699 
Average price paid per share $ 322.87 $ 146.89 $ 115.22 
Dollar value of shares repurchased $ 99,147 $ 190,405 $ 161,395 

*Any stock repurchases are made as part of publicly announced programs in open-market transactions.

The Company’s Board of Directors approved an additional authorization of $750,000 during April 2021 for the 
Company to repurchase its common stock under the same conditions as the prior stock repurchase program. 
Subsequent to March 31, 2021 through May 13, 2021, the Company repurchased 70,881 shares for $23,466 at an 
average price of $331.06 per share, and had $787,194 remaining authorized under the stock repurchase program. 
The Company’s stock repurchase program does not obligate it to acquire any particular amount of common stock 
and may be suspended at any time at the Company’s discretion.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss. The components within AOCL recorded in the consolidated 
balance sheets, were as follows:

As of March 31,

2021 2020
Cumulative foreign currency translation loss $ (16,743) $ (25,559) 

Total $ (16,743) $ (25,559) 
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Note 11.  Basic and Diluted Shares

The reconciliation of basic to diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding, are as follows:

Basic 28,055,000 28,385,000 29,641,000 
Dilutive effect of equity awards 351,000 309,000 262,000 

Diluted 28,406,000 28,694,000 29,903,000 
Excluded

Annual RSUs and Annual PSUs 4,000 3,000 3,000 
LTIP PSUs 116,000 153,000 77,000 
LTIP NQSOs — — 170,000 
Deferred Non-Employee Director Equity Awards 1,000 — 2,000 

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 2019

Excluded Awards. The equity awards excluded from the calculation of the dilutive effect have been excluded 
due to one of the following: (1) the shares were anti-dilutive; (2) the necessary conditions had not been satisfied for 
the shares to be deemed issuable based on the Company's performance for the relevant performance period; or (3) 
the Company recorded a net loss during the period presented (such that inclusion of these equity awards in the 
calculation would have been antidilutive). The number of shares stated for each of these excluded awards is the 
maximum number of shares issuable pursuant to these awards. For those awards subject to the achievement of 
performance criteria, the actual number of shares to be issued pursuant to such awards will be based on Company 
performance in future periods, net of forfeitures, and may be materially lower or higher than the number of shares 
presented, which could result in a lesser or more dilutive effect, respectively. Refer to Note 8, “Stock-Based 
Compensation,” for further information on the Company's equity incentive plans.

Note 12.  Reportable Operating Segments

Information reported to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM), who is the Company’s Principal 
Executive Officer, is organized into the Company’s six reportable operating segments and is consistent with how the 
CODM evaluates performance and allocates resources. The Company does not consider international operations to 
be a separate reportable operating segment, and the CODM reviews such operations in the aggregate with the 
reportable operating segments. Inter-segment sales from the Company’s wholesale reportable operating segments 
to the DTC reportable operating segment are at the Company’s cost, and there is no inter-segment profit on these 
inter-segment sales, nor are they reflected in income (loss) from operations of the wholesale reportable operating 
segments. 

The Company evaluates reportable operating segment performance primarily based on net sales and income 
(loss) from operations. The wholesale operations of each brand are generally managed separately because each 
requires different marketing, research and development, design, sourcing, and sales strategies. The income (loss) 
from operations of each of the reportable operating segments includes only those costs which are specifically 
related to each reportable operating segment, which consist primarily of cost of sales, research and development, 
design, sales and marketing, depreciation, amortization, and the direct costs of employees within those reportable 
operating segments. The Company does not allocate corporate overhead costs or non-operating income and 
expenses to reportable operating segments, which include unallocable overhead costs associated with the 
Company’s warehouse and distribution center (DC), certain executive and stock-based compensation, accounting, 
finance, legal, information technology, human resources, and facilities, among others. 
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Reportable operating segment information, with a reconciliation to the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income, was as follows:

Net sales 
UGG brand wholesale $ 871,799 $ 892,990 $ 888,347 
HOKA brand wholesale 405,243 277,097 185,057 
Teva brand wholesale 105,928 119,108 119,390 
Sanuk brand wholesale 26,566 39,463 69,791 
Other brands wholesale 69,375 67,175 42,818 
Direct-to-Consumer 1,066,730 736,856 715,034 
Total $ 2,545,641 $ 2,132,689 $ 2,020,437 

Income (loss) from operations
UGG brand wholesale $ 292,718 $ 303,908 $ 300,761 
HOKA brand wholesale 111,208 61,860 35,717 
Teva brand wholesale 27,120 30,736 27,939 
Sanuk brand wholesale (162) 3,212 12,781 
Other brands wholesale 21,573 16,087 10,411 
Direct-to-Consumer 349,465 182,548 185,449 
Unallocated overhead costs (297,717) (260,216) (245,738) 
Total $ 504,205 $ 338,135 $ 327,320 

Depreciation, amortization, and accretion
UGG brand wholesale $ 532 $ 611 $ 1,254 
HOKA brand wholesale 611 612 456 
Teva brand wholesale — 1 10 
Sanuk brand wholesale 1,727 2,361 4,171 
Other brands wholesale 382 382 382 
Direct-to-Consumer 11,121 10,586 12,195 
Unallocated overhead costs 26,157 24,359 26,473 
Total $ 40,530 $ 38,912 $ 44,941 

Capital expenditures
UGG brand wholesale $ (31) $ 404 $ 205 
HOKA brand wholesale 56 434 285 
Sanuk brand wholesale 8 — — 
Other brands wholesale 40 64 11 
Direct-to-Consumer 10,434 7,753 5,739 
Unallocated overhead costs 21,711 23,800 22,846 
Total $ 32,218 $ 32,455 $ 29,086 

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 2019
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Assets allocated to each reportable operating segment include trade accounts receivable, net, inventories, net, 
property and equipment, net, operating lease assets, goodwill, other intangible assets, net, and certain other assets 
that are specifically identifiable for one of the Company's reportable operating segments. Unallocated assets are 
those assets not directly related to a specific reportable operating segment and generally include cash and cash 
equivalents, deferred tax assets, net, and various other corporate assets shared by the Company's reportable 
operating segments. 

Assets allocated to each reportable operating segment, with a reconciliation to the consolidated balance 
sheets, were as follows:

Assets
UGG brand wholesale $ 212,277 $ 245,239 
HOKA brand wholesale 168,365 124,958 
Teva brand wholesale 87,284 90,305 
Sanuk brand wholesale 38,311 50,314 
Other brands wholesale 18,732 21,535 
Direct-to-Consumer 196,091 243,489 
Total assets from reportable operating segments 721,060 775,840 

Unallocated cash and cash equivalents 1,089,361 649,436 
Unallocated deferred tax assets, net 37,194 28,233 
Unallocated other corporate assets 320,090 311,609 
Total $ 2,167,705 $ 1,765,118 

As of March 31,
2021 2020

Note 13.  Concentration of Business 

Regions and Customers. The Company sells its products to customers throughout the US and to foreign 
customers in various countries, with concentrations that were as follows:

International net sales $ 784,164 $ 730,997 $ 742,079 
% of net sales  30.8 %  34.3 %  36.7 %

Net sales in foreign currencies $ 611,897 $ 587,233 $ 605,725 
% of net sales  24.0 %  27.5 %  30.0 %

Ten largest customers as % of net sales  27.8 %  28.0 %  27.7 %

Years Ended March 31,
2021 2020 2019

For the years ended March 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, no single foreign country comprised 10.0% or more of 
the Company’s total net sales. No single customer accounted for 10.0% or more of the Company’s net sales during 
the years ended March 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019. 

The Company sells its products to customers for trade accounts receivables and, as of March 31, 2021, had 
one customer that made up 12.8% of the net trade accounts receivables. As of March 31, 2020, no individual 
customers exceeded 10% of trade accounts receivable, net. Management performs regular evaluations concerning 
the ability of the Company’s customers to satisfy their obligations to the Company and recognizes an allowance for 
doubtful accounts based on these evaluations. 
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Suppliers. The Company's production is concentrated at a limited number of independent manufacturing 
factories, primarily in Asia. Sheepskin is the principal raw material for certain UGG brand products and most of the 
Company's sheepskin is purchased from two tanneries in China, which is sourced primarily from Australia and the 
United Kingdom. The Company believes significant factors affecting the price of sheepskin include weather 
patterns, harvesting decisions, incidence of disease, the price of other commodities such as wool and leather, the 
demand for the Company's products and the products of its competitors, the use of substitute products or 
components, and global economic conditions. 

Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets, which consist of property and equipment, net, recorded in the 
consolidated balance sheets, are as follows:

2021 2020

US $ 194,833 $ 194,679 
Foreign* 11,377 14,358 

Total $ 206,210 $ 209,037 

As of March 31,

*No single foreign country’s property and equipment, net, represented 10.0% or more of the Company’s total
property and equipment, net, as of March 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Note 14.  Quarterly Summary of Information (Unaudited)

The Company’s business is seasonal, with the highest percentage of UGG and Koolaburra brand net sales 
occurring in the quarters ending September 30th and December 31st and the highest percentage of Teva and 
Sanuk brand net sales occurring in the quarters ending March 31st and June 30th. Net sales for the HOKA brand 
occur more evenly throughout the year reflecting the brand's year-round performance product offerings. Due to the 
magnitude of the UGG brand relative to the Company’s other brands, the Company’s aggregate net sales in the 
quarters ending September 30th and December 31st still significantly exceed the Company’s aggregate net sales in 
the quarter ending March 31st. While the Company continues to take steps to diversify and expand its product 
offerings by creating more year-round styles and growing the year-round net sales of the HOKA brand as a 
percentage of the Company’s aggregate net sales, the Company expects the impact from seasonality to continue to 
decrease over time. However, it is unclear whether seasonal impacts will be minimized or exaggerated in future 
periods as a result of the disruptions and uncertainties caused by the pandemic.

Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data, were as follows:

Net sales $ 283,169 $ 623,525 $ 1,077,759 $ 561,188 
Gross profit 142,566 318,977 613,897 298,650 
(Loss) income from operations (7,699) 128,604 328,655 54,645 
Net (loss) income (7,973) 101,554 255,536 33,458 
Net (loss) income per share

Basic $ (0.28) $ 3.62 $ 9.09 $ 1.19 
Diluted $ (0.28) $ 3.58 $ 8.99 $ 1.18 

Fiscal Year 2021
Quarter Ended

6/30/2020 9/30/2020 12/31/2020 3/31/2021

Net sales $ 276,839 $ 542,205 $ 938,735 $ 374,910 
Gross profit 130,019 273,024 507,632 192,998 
(Loss) income from operations (31,417) 97,131 255,766 16,655 
Net (loss) income (19,351) 77,810 201,593 16,090 
Net (loss) income per share

Basic $ (0.67) $ 2.73 $ 7.21 $ 0.57 
Diluted $ (0.67) $ 2.71 $ 7.14 $ 0.57 

Fiscal Year 2020
Quarter Ended

6/30/2019 9/30/2019 12/31/2019 3/31/2020
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Allowances for doubtful accounts, sales discounts, chargebacks, and sales returns against trade accounts 
receivable recorded in the consolidated balance sheets, are as follows:

Allowance for doubtful accounts (1)
Balance at Beginning of Year $ (6,989) $ (5,073) $ (3,487) 
Additions (3,052) (3,498) (2,849) 
Deductions 311 1,582 1,263 
Balance at End of Year $ (9,730) $ (6,989) $ (5,073) 

Allowance for sales discounts (2)
Balance at Beginning of Year $ (1,030) $ (710) $ (1,400) 
Additions (16,414) (14,845) (11,712) 
Deductions 14,428 14,525 12,402 
Balance at End of Year $ (3,016) $ (1,030) $ (710) 

Allowance for chargebacks (3)
Balance at Beginning of Year $ (13,127) $ (13,041) $ (7,727) 
Additions (23,214) (13,399) (23,369) 
Deductions 22,571 13,313 18,055 
Balance at End of Year $ (13,770) $ (13,127) $ (13,041) 

Allowance for sales returns (4)
Balance at Beginning of Year $ — $ — $ (20,848) 
Deductions — — 20,848 
Balance at End of Year $ — $ — $ — 
Total $ (26,516) $ (21,146) $ (18,824) 

As of March 31,
2021 2020 2019

(1) The additions to the allowance for doubtful accounts represent estimates of the Company’s bad debt expense
based on the factors on which the Company evaluates the collectability of its accounts receivable, with actual
recoveries netted into additions. Deductions are for the actual write-off of the related trade accounts receivables.

(2) The additions to the allowance for sales discounts represent estimates of discounts to be taken by the Company’s
customers based on the amount of outstanding discounts for meeting certain order, shipment, and prompt
payments terms. Deductions are for the actual discounts taken by the Company’s wholesale channel customers.
Discounts for DTC consumers are taken at the point of sale and are not reflected in the allowance for sales
discounts.

(3) The additions to the allowance for chargebacks represent chargebacks and markdowns taken in the respective
year, as well as an estimate of amounts that will be taken in the future related to sales in the current reporting
period. Deductions are for the actual amounts written off against outstanding trade accounts receivables.

(4) Amounts presented as of March 31, 2019 reflect the wholesale channel sales returns reserve on a net basis after
the adoption of ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which resulted in gross basis presentation
in the consolidated balance sheets beginning April 1, 2018. Returns for DTC consumer products were previously
excluded as they were separately recorded in other accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets. In prior
periods presented, the additions to the allowance for sales returns represented estimates of returns based on the
Company’s historical wholesale channel customer returns experience. Deductions were for the actual return of
product.

Schedule II

DECKERS OUTDOOR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
TOTAL VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(amounts in thousands)
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